BEFORE THE NEVADA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY

NEVADA STATE BOARD OF PHARMACY,

Patitioner, NOTICE OF INTENDED ACTION
V. AND ACCUSATION
PRESCRIPTIONONLINE.COM,
Certificate of Registration #7H01379, Case No. 01-105-PH-S
JOSEPH PETER AURALLE, R.Ph.,
Certificate of Registration #6158, Case No, 01-105A-RPH-S
JULIE JEAN LEVITT, R.Ph.,
Certificate of Registration #13427, Case No. 01-105B-RPH-S
Respondents.

/

COMES NOW Keith W. Macdonald, in his official capacity as Executive
Secretary of the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy, and makes the following that will
serve as both a notice of intended action under Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS)
233B8.127(3) and as an accusation under NRS 639.241.

I

The Nevada State Board of Pharmacy has jurisdiction aver this matter because
Raspondent Prescriptiononline.com is a pharmacy licensed by the Board, Respondent
Joseph Peter Auralle Is a pharmacist licensed by the Board, and Respondent Julie
Jaan Levitt is a pharmacist licansed by the Board.

It
On April 7, 1988, Prescriptiononline.cam applied for a license as a pharmacy.

The application showed that Prescriptiononline.com was owned by




Prescriptiononline.com, Inc., and that the 100% shareholder/owner of
Frescriptiononline.com, Inc. was Terrie Suarez. Ms. Suarez was also shown to be the
sole director of the corporation and the Prasident, Secretary, and Treasurer of the
corporation.

.

On August 17, 2000, the Louisiana Bﬁar:l of Pharmacy issued a Final Order
against Pharmaceuticals Southwest, Inc., a Louisiana-licensed institutional pharmacy.
The managing officer of Pharmacauticals Southwest, Inc, was Ms. Suarez. In the Final
Order, the Loulsiana Board of Pharmacy found that Ms. Suarez had committed a
“blatant denial of raceipt” of $1.2 million in drugs from Bindiey Western Drug Co. even
when confronted with actual copies of sales manifests signed by her o Bindley Wastarn
Drug Co. The Board also found viclations of 19 different categories of recard keeping
or operational statutes and regulations. Based upon the receipt of $1.2 million in drugs
and “the complele disregard for pharmacy laws and regulations pertaining thereto,
coupled with Ms, Suarez's blatant denlal of recelpt of the drugs,” the Board revoked
Pharmaceuticals Southwest, Inc.'s license and fined it $100,000.

V.

In September 2000, Prescriptiononline.com was sold by Ms. Suarez to Melissa
Cosenza for $50,000. According to the Stockholder Ledger for Prescriptiononline.com,
100% of the stock for the corporation was transferred from Ms. Suarez to Ms. Cosenza

an Octaber 1, 2000,




On March 26, 2001, Ms. Cosenza signed a Nevada application for change of
ownership form. The form was not sent to the Board's office until March 27, 2001 and
was nol received by the Board office until April 2, 2001,

Wi,

On March 27, 2001, the Board's staff filed a Notice of Intended Action and
Accusation (Case #01-012-PH-5) against Prescriptiononline.com based upon
Prescriptiononline.com's providing false answers to the Board on
Prescriptiononfine.com's renewal application and resulting from the -nwnaf‘ﬁ_{Ms.
Suarez') receiving discioling in anather state on grounds that would constitution
unprofessional conduct in Nevada.

Wil

On February 2, 2001. Halima Sebuliba, B Ph. began working as a pharmacist at
Prescriptiononline.com. On April 27, 2001, Halima Sebuliba, R.Ph. became the
managing pharmacist for Prescriptiononline.com.

Vil

On May 22, 2001, the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy (NABP)
temporarily suspended the certification of Prescriptiononline.com as a Verified Internel
Pharmacy Practice Site (VIPPS). As of the date of this Accusation,
Prescriptiononline.com’s VIPPS certification remains suspended.

IX.

On May 25, 2001, the Board ﬂ_r'{mrﬂd Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and

Order against ﬁnsnljﬁﬂnnunlhe-nl:{m in Case #ﬂ1-ﬂ'12-fi‘-_l-$, ﬁm Board found thal

Prescriptionline.com had committed the vielations alleged in the two causes of action.




The Board ordered Prescriptiononline.com to be audited and to pay the Board's fees
and costs of $509.74  Prescriptiononline.com complied with the terms of the Order.
X,
The prescription filling practices of Prescriptiononline.com changed radically in
gyl__',r 21]!1_1 . Prior to July 2001, Prescriptiononline.com filled no more than thirleen
prescriptions for controlled substances. Starting in July 2001, Prescriptiononline.com

filled large numbers of controlled substances prescriptions as the following table details.
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On Oclober 2, 2001, Julie Levitt began working at Prescriptiononline.com as a
pharmacisl.

Xll.

On January 15, 2002, Jéseph Auralle took over as the managing pharmacist for
Prescriptiononline.com when Ms; Sebulibia’s efmpldyment was terminated.

X,

On March 8. 2002, the Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA) executed a search
warrant at Prescriptiononline.com. Board staff has been informed that the DEA
removed many regords from Prescriptiononline.com. .

XV

On March B, 2002; ¢obnsel for Prescriptiononline. com spoke with the Board's
General Counsel regarding the operations of Prescriptiononline.com and the Nevada
laws related to the fdli_ng of controlled substances presm‘plgipna written by physicians
who are nut-liu&nsed in Nevada.

XV,

On March 11, 2002, the Board's General Counsel provided a lefter to counsel for
Prescnptiononline com confirming the March B telephone call and explaining mg_ ;
applicable statute and regulation.

AT

On March 15, 2002, counsel for Prescriptiononline.com sent a letter to the

Board's General Counsel in response to the March 11 letter. In his March 15 letter,

counsel for Prescriptionanline.com claimed that Prescriptiononline.com’s operations

complied with Nevada law.




On April 2, 2002, the Board's General Counsel sent a second letter to counsel
for Prescriptiononline.com. In this letter, the Board's General Counsel explained that
he disagreed with counsel for Prescriptiononline.com regarding the proper interpretation
of Nevada law as it related to Prescriptiononline.com'’s practices. In particular, the
Board's General Counsel warned that Nevada law requires that a pharmacist verify a
bona ficke patient-physician félationship for every prescription written by a physician not
licensed in Nevada and that such verification must be recorded in the prescriplion
records.

XV,

The larae increase in controlled substances prescriptions filled by :
Prescriptiononline.com was because Prescriptiononline.com began accepting
prescriptions from individual physicians or groups of physicians who were affiliated with
certain websites. Though the websites and the physicians involved changed
throughout the period of July 2001 through the date of the filing of this Accusation, the
modus operandi was essentially thé same. A patient would: (1) contact
Prescriptiononline.com or one of the physicians’ websites:(2) fill oul a questionnaire |
(usually online, but sometimes sent via facsimile machine); (3) transmit the -
questionnaire and payment data; (4) receive an “appointment” for a telephone call with
the physician, (5) speak by telephone with the physician at the appeinted time; and ()
infarm the physician of the controlled substances and dangerous drugs desired. The
physician would write one or more prescriptions, almost always including at least one
controlled substances p_r_e.-.nripﬁnn. based solely upon the lelephone call and the

patient's online questionnaire w&nuf ever physically seeing or amhmu the pabent.

1ne physician would transmit by facsimile the prescriptions written for a patient to

6




Prescriptiononline.com that would then fill the prescription and send the filled
prescriptions to the patient’'s home
XIX
Using the scheme set out in averment XVIIl, Prescriptiononline.com processed

and dispensed controlled substances as detailed by physician in the following tables:
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
XX,

Bll-'of the prescriptions filled by Prescriptiononline.com frem March 6, 2002
through September 20, 2002. totaling 17,988 prescriptions, were analvzed. Of these
;-:mnripunm. 16,136 were for controlled substances (90%) and 1,852 were for
dangerous drugs (10%). All of the 1?,93& pr;scripti-nns analyzed were writlen by
physicians who were not licensed in Nevada.

XXI,

The records of Prescriptiononline.com show that no pharmacist or other

pharmacy personnel at Prescriptiononline.com, including Mr. Auralle and Ms. Levilt,

ever contacted any of the patients or physicians lo verily whether a bana fide

18




relatioriship existed between any of the patients and the physicians involved for any of
the 20,878 controlled substances prescriptions analyzed.
XX,

In fafling to verify whether a controlled substances prescription from a physician
not licensed in Nevada was the result of a bona fide patient-physician relationship, Mr.
Auralle and Ms, Levitt violated Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 639.210(4), (11), and
(12) and 639.235(2)(b), Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 635 845(1)(i), and 21
C.F.R. §1306.04(a). Each of the 16,136 controlled substances prescriptions for which a
verification had not been performed constitutes a separate count for disciplinary
purposes under NRS 839.255(1)(f), and a separate fine or other discipline may be
imposad for each such prescription.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
XX

In failing to verify whether a controlled substances prescription from a physician
not licensed in Nevada was the result of a bona fide patient-physician relationship,
Prescriptiononline.com violated NRS 639.210(4), (11), and (12) and 638.235(2)(b),
NAC 638.945(1)(i) and (2), and 21 C.F.R. §1306.04(a). Each of the 16,136 controlled
substances prescriptions for which a verification had not been performed constifutes a
separate count for disciplinary purposes under NRS 638.255(1)(f), and a separate fine
or other discipline may be imposed for each such prescription

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
XXV,
The records of Prescriptiononfine com show that no pharmacist, including Mr.

Auralle and Ms. Levitt, ever contacted any of the patients or physicians to verify
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whether a bona fide relationship existed between any of the patients and the physicians
involved for any'of the 1 852 dangerous drug prescriptions in which the physician and
the pabent were resident in different states.

XXV,

In failing to verify whether a dangerous drug prescription from a physician not
licensed in Nevada and not practicing in the state in which a patient was located was
the result of a bona fide patient-physician relationship, Mr. Auralle and Ms. Levitt
violated NRS 638.210(4) and (12) and NAC 638.752 and 639.945(1)(i). Each of the
1,852 dangerous drug prescriptions for which a verification had not been performed
constitutes a separate count for disciplinary purposes under NRS 639.255(1)(f), and a
separate fine or other discipline may be imposed for each such prescription.

EQURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
XXV

In failing to verfy whather a dangerous drug prescription from a physician not
licensed in Nevada and not practicing in the state in which a patient was located was
the result of a bona fide patient-physician relationship, Prescriptiononline.com viclated
NRS 639.210(4) and (12) and NAC 639.752 and §39.945(1)(i) and (2). Each of the
1,852 dangerous drug prescriptions for which a verification had not been performed
constitutes a separate count for disciplinary purposes under NRS 638.255(1)(), and a
separate fine or other discipline may be imposed for each such prescription.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
XXV
On May 14, 2002, Dr. William Dale died. Nqn&tl‘relass Mr. Auralie, Ms. Levitt,

and Prescriptiononline.com filled or refilled 1,668 controlled substances prescriptions

20




writteri iy Df "l - Of these, 73 were new prescriptions and 1,685 were refills of
earlier prescriptions.
VN,

In filling or refilling 1,668 prescriptions for controlled substances written or
allegedly written by Dr. Dale after he was deceased, Mr. Auralle and Ms. Levitt violated
NRS 453.377(1), 453.381(4), 639.210(4), (11), and (12}, NAC 453.260(3) and
639.945(1)(e), (g), and (i), and 21 CFR §1301.52(a). Each of the 1,668 controlled *
substances prescriptions, whether new or refill, constilutes a separate count for
disciplinary purposes under NRS 638.255(1)(f), and a separate fine or other discipline
may be imposed for each such prescription, whether new or refill.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
XXX,

In filling or refilling 1,668 prescriptions for controlled substances written or
allegedly written by Dr. Dale after he was deceased, Prescripliononline.com violaled
NRS 453.377(1), 453.381(4), 639.210(4), (11), and (12) and NAC 453.280(3),
£39.945(1)(e), (g), and (i) and (2), and 21 CFR §1301.52(a). Each of the 1,668
controlled substances prescriptions, whether new or refill, constitutes a separate count
for disciplinary purposes under NRS 639.255(1)(f), and a separale fine or other
discipline may be imposed for each such prescription, whether new or refill.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
KEX.

On December 4. 2001, an Administrative Law Jydae Stephen E. Hielt entered an ,

Interim Suspension Order against Dr. Jon Opsahl: The essence of the Interim

Suspension Order was that Dr. Opsahl was prescribing Cipro over the Internet “without
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a good faith prior examination of the patients.” The December 4, 2001 Interim

Suspension Order provided:
. . . Respondent is further prohibited from prescribing, dispensing, or fumnishing dangerous
drugs as defined in Business and Professions Code section 2411 without a good failh
pricr @xamination and medical indication therefore. Respandent is further prahibited from
presoribing, dispensing, or fumnishing, or causing to be prescribed, dispensed. or
furmished..dangerous drugs or dangerous devices, as defined in Business and .
Professions Code section 4022, on the Intemet for delivery to any person in this stae, -
without & good faith prior examination and medical indication therefor

XXX,
‘On May 1, 2002, Judge Hjelt suspended Dr. Opsahl's medical license pending
fur:har suhsaquant_amu;nanl The May 1, 2002 suspension was based upon Dr.
Opsahl's continual violations the terms of the December 4, 2001 Interim Suspension -

Order. The violations of the December 4, 2001 Interim Suspension Order included tha

-

thousands of controlled substances and dangerous drug prescriptions he wrote for
patients from all over the United States, which prescriptions were filled at

Prescriptiononline.com.

FOCKN
On May 8, 2002, the Board sent a fax broadcast to all Nevada pharmacies,

including Prescriptiononline.com, that stated as follows:

Investigative information informs us that Or. Jo ysahl has been suspended by the
California State Board of Medical Examinars. any prescriptions, “controfled .
substance or dangerous drugs. Remove his name from your computers,

If prescriptions continue 1o be flled after May 87, the dispensing pharmacists may be held
accountable,

If yau [have] any guestions, please contact us.

KX,




On May 31, 2002, Judge Hjelt issued a Decision as a resull of the earfier
hearings and argument. Two of Judge Hjelt's factual findings are pertinent to this

matter:

13. Respondent had a goed faith, albeit unreasonable belief that, because he
hed a phone consultation and kept records, he was conducling a good faith examination
and that he was not prescribing over the Internel. The maost disturbing part of this is his
failure to understand what constitutes a good faith &l examination  There is no
guestion that on some rare accasons in fairly clreumseribed situations a physician can
prescribe medicabon without aciually seaing a pafient However, respondant somehow
mades the excaption into the rule. He treated hundreds if not thousands of patients for
sanous medical conditions and prescribed dangerous drugs without ever sesing them. In
fact, almost all of them were out-of-state, spread throughout the Uniled States.

14. Respondent had no way to adequataly assess these patignts. . Observation is
a necessary compaonent of any physical examination. Despite the diagnostic alds that
physicians have today in terms of tests and technology, the ability 1o see and examine
remains crucial 1o effective diagnosis and treatment.;.F f belief that _
over the phone with patienis satisfied the of a good faith examination
is profoundly disturbing and demonstrates a combination of incredible arrogance
and a woeful lack of judgment. (Emphasis supplied )

Based upon these and other similar findings of fact, Judge Hjelt ordered that Dr.
Opsahl's license to practice medicine was suspended until a full hearing of the matter .
was held in June 2002. The final decision as to whethear Dr. Opsahl’s license will be

further suspended or revoked has not yet been issued.

KXXIV.

Prescriptiononline_com was the pharmacy to which Dr. Opsahl's unlawful
prescriptions were sent. Prescriptiononline.com, Mr. Auralle, and Ms. Lavitt filled or
refilled 12,854 controlled substances prescriptions written by Dr, Opsahl after :
December 4. 2001. IOf those 12,854 controlled substances prescriptions written after
December 4, 2001, 293 of them were filled or refilled after Dr. Opsahl's prescribing
privileges were suspended on r@yg_vzum including 96 filled or refilled after the
Board's May 6, 2002 fax broadcast. The last prescription filled for a patient of Dr.

Opsahil filled by Prescriptiononline.com was filled on July 3, 2002.
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FOURV.

In filling or refiling as many as 12,854 prescriptions for controlled substances
written by Dr. Opsahl after his prescribing privileges were conditioned or suspanded,
Mr. Auralle and Ms. Levitt viclated NRS 453.377(1), 453.381(4), 632.210(4), (11), and
(12) and NAC 453.280(3), 639.945(1)(e), (g), and (i), and 21 CFR §1301.52(a). Each
of the 12 854 controlled substances prescriptions, whether new or refill, constitutes a
separate count for disciplinary purposes under NRS 639 255(1)(f), and a separate fine
or other discipline may be imposed for each such prescription, whether new or refill.

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION
FXVLL

In filling or refilling as many as 12,854 prescriptions for controlled substances
written by Dr. Opsahl after his prescribing privileges were conditioned or suspended,
Prescriptiononline com violated NRS 453.377(1), 453.381(4), 639.210(4), (11), and (12)
and NAC 453.280(3) and 638.945(1)(e), (g). and (i} and (2). Each of the 12,854
controlled substances prescriptions, whether new or refill, constitutes a separate count
for disciplinary purposes under NRS 639.255(1)(f), and a separate fine or ather
discipline may be imposed for each such prescnption, whether new or refill.

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION
XXXV

The prescription records produced to the Board's staff showed significant
numbers of prescriptions that were missing from the prescription records. sTwo
randomly selected packs of fifty prescripions showed the following:

##124800-124849 124802, 124803, 124812, 124813, 124816, 124817,

124818, 124819, 124826, 124827, 124833, 124834,

124844, 124845, 124846, 124848, 124845
##125350-125399 125350, 125363, 125364, 125365, 125367

24




JOOXVIN.

In addition to the 22 prescriptions missing from the two prescription packs
analyzed. no prescription was found for Rx #124814. Instead, a copy of Rx#124747
was found in the file with a handwritten notation saying “See RX 124814." No
computer-genarated label was found on this document for Rx #124814.

1XL.

In addition to the 22 prescriptions missing from the two prescription packs
analyzed, the prescription pack numbered ## 125350-125399 contained the following
prescriptions: Rx ## 125306, 125317, 125339, 125340. The first prescription in the
pack that actually belonged in the pack (Rx #125351) and all subsequent prescriplions
in the pack were dated as filled on August 15, 2002. Rx #125306 was dated as fillad on
August 14, 2002. Rx ## 125317, 125339, and 125340 wers dated as filled on August
16, 2002, after the dates of the later-numbers prescriptions in the pack.

XL.

In failing to maintain the prescription records so that each prescriplion can be
located and examined, Mr. Auralle violated NRS 638.210(4) and (15) and NRS
§30.236(1) and NAC 639.706 and 639.945(1)(i) and (m).

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
XLL

In failing to maintain the prescription records so that each prescription can be

located and examined, Prescriptiononline.com violated NRS 639.210(4) and NRS

639.236(1) and NAC 639,708 and 639.945(1)(1) and (m) and (2).

25
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131458 || Opsabl 2 3 | Hydrcedmd APAF 7.5/500 120
121506 | Dale 2 3 || Hydrocodoue/ APAP 10/500 1)
121712 § Dale 2= 3 Alprasclam 1 mg. 120
122330 | Dale 2 3 Adipes- I’ 378 myg 3
{122349 § Dale 2 3 Fiorinal/Codeine No. 3 il
122362 || Dals 2 3 Alprasodam 1 g, o
122815 || Dale 1 2 3 Hydrowslona/ APAP 100650 130
123303 _ia Tlale 2 3 Alprazolam 1 g, 34
123316 | Dals 2 3 Alprazolam 1 mg. )
23341 || Dale I =2 3 .é'&]p:u-:-l.m:ln::. 100
[ 123681 || Dals 1 3 I Hydrocodona/ APAP 10/500 120 {total 240)
| 124473 |} Sood 2 3 Alpmaolam § mg. 120
| 124631 § Sood 2 3 Hydrocodona/ APAP 10500 120
124666 || Sood 2 3 Hydeooodons/ APAP 10/325 100
1124695 |} Sood 2 3 Hydrooodone/ APAP 10/325 120 i
1 124716 |} Sood 2 3 | Hydrooodona/APAP 10/325 18
) 124717 §f Sood 2 3 Hydrocodone/ APAP 10/325 500
2 3 Hydrooodone/ APAP 10/325 100
- 3 Hydrocodone/ APAF 10/325 100
2 3 Hydeooodone/ APAF L4325 o
a 3 Hydrocodonal APAP 10500 120
125028 | Thanes 2 3 Abscasilass 1 1ag. 90
1125799 | lhanes 2 3 Hydrovodons APAR 10325 i
{125015 flhawes [ 2 3 || Hydeosodone/APAP 10/325 90
[ 125040 %md-umiu_ " e Hysdrooodone/ APAP 200325 40
125970 | Orla-Rosario Y Hydeosodone APAP [0/325 &)
1250689 § Starks 2 3 Hydrocodone! APAP 10/500 1720
125090 § Stads 2 i Alpraslam 1 mg. Bl ]
126072 | Stacks 2 3 Hydiooodons/ APAP 10/500 0

XLVI

Prescriptiononline.com's records show that none of the refills in the table in

averment *° were authorized by the physicians who wrote the prescnptions.

XLV

In providing refills for prescriptions for controlled substances that were not

authorized by the physicians who wrote the original prescriptions, Mr. Auralle and Ms.




Levitt violated NRS 639.210(4) and (15), 639.2303(3), and §39.2396 and NAC
639.945(1)(i). Each of the 32 controlled substances prescriptions for which an
unauthorized refill was made constitutes a separate count for disciplinary purposes
under NRS 639.255(1)(f), and a separate fine or other discipline may be imposed for
each such unauthorized refill.

THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

ALVIIL
In providing refills for prescriptions for controlled substances thal were not
authorized by the physicians who wrota the onginal prescriptions,
Prescriptiononline. com violated NRS 639.210(4) and (15). 639.2393(3), and 639.2396
and NAC 639.945(1)(i) and (2). Each of the 32 controlled substances prescriptions for
which an unauthornzed refill was made constifutes a separate count for disciplinary
purposes under NRS 638.255(1)(f), and a separate fine or other discipline may be
imposed for each such unauthorized refill.
FOURTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
IL.

An analysis of Prescriptiononline.com's prescriptions filled from March through
October 2002 showed that Prescriptiononline.com routinely refilled controlied ;
substances prescriptions earler than were autl'l_qrize-:;i by the prescribing physician. The
a-naty';él.is allowed for at least seven days’ advance ordering of a refill to acknowiedge the
time necessary for the order to be processed and sent to a patient. The analysis
showed a total of 647 prescriptions that had at least one refill that was made earlier

than seven days betore (he refill would otherwise have been authorized. Of these 6847 i
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prescriptions, Board staff only examined the most egregious of these early refills which

are included on the following table:

130812

[ Hiydeocodone/APAP 10/650 |

Dale 30 T T \ 120
| 121095 | Dl &0 15 3z E' : _! T S — 3
121147 | Dale R T 11 i | Dhazepam 10 nag. )
121184 | Opeahl I w v E 3 ‘[ Hydrocodong/ APAP 10/500 | 120
I 121186 § Opsahl ) ¥ ) I - . [ Diazepam [0 mg.
121193 § Dale 30 10 TR R
I 121703 | Opeahl ) 4 16 | 7 )| Hydmeodons/ APAP 101323
E 122025 § Opsahl 30§ ¥ - Diethylpropion 28 mg.
1l 122233 § Opsali 0 §| 10 1U - Hydrocodons/ AI'AF* 100325
122527 § Opsahl A (e} A - Ambien 10 mi.
i_i 22733 § [ale fal) 35 Alprazclam 2 me.

123045 § Dale 30 e B 1, . Alprazolam 1 mg. I
| E:‘.EIEF__:_IJaJc 30 -: 14 10 Hydrocodoao APAP 104325 120 rl
123234 § Dale M} f 10 17 Hydracedana APAP 100500 120
123235 | Dale 30 § 10 17 - Diazepam 10 mg. o]
123245 § Dale 3 § 15 2 Alprazolam 1 mg. )

; 123303 | Dals 30 0 16 17 Alpessolun Lrmg. |30
123309 { Dale 30 | 14 2 Alpramolam 2 mg. .

[ 123498 § Thal= 3 10) 16 Disgepam 10 mg i

1 123623 | Dals 30§ 1o & A IET,-T-'F-?E-"_JH 2 . il

[123681 | Da [0 | o | 14 | Fydrooodono APAP 107500 | 120
124129 r‘ﬂ':riLL.'um 45 a1 — - [1}-||-r:3m1ﬂ-.--"-.F'M-" 10325 | L]

il 124152 § Socd jH 30 9 15 - Alprazolasm | mg 90|
124155 | Sed 30 16 i YT Hydrooodone/ APAP 10/500 | 120
124266 [ Sood TR Y e 9 Hydrocoalone/ APAP 10325 | 120
124372 § Sood a0 P 17 13 Alprazolam 1 mg. 120
124450 | Sood 4 18 18 - Hydrooodons/ APAP 10/325 § 120
124631 | Sood 4 Ln 17 7 Hydrucudune/ APAP 10/E00 120
124605 | S 45 24 11 . Amblen 10 mg. 45
124681 § Sood 45 e 14 ¥ s = Loreet Plus &
1246095 | Sood |40 0 0 19 Hydrocodono/ APAP 10/325 | 120
124716 § Soo 50 0 0 27 Hydrocodone/ APAP 104325 | 75
25479 | lhaues 30 13 15 Hydrocodono/ APAP 78550 | 60
125400 § Thaner 30 28 3 Hydrocodon/ APAP 1O/500 § 90
125524 || Thanes 5 17 T Hydrocodona/ APAP 107325 | 90




I 125551 | Orta-Bosario T &0 34 1 = Alprazalam 2 me. il
125728 ||‘I'-"I'I'-"f-. i 30 0 28 3 |'I|I|Fll'ﬂ'l'.'ll'l-I|'I.Tl-'I 1 mg. Ll
_Eﬁﬂ].j Crrta-Hosario 5 2] - - Tussionex ER P |

125040 | Orla- Bowmria 30 0 1o 9| Hydrmocodone/ APAP 10/325

Hydrocodons/ APAD 10/325

L.

125970 { Orta-Rowario ¥ Hydsucodona/ APAP 10/325

126020 Ambien 10 mg. |
126001 | Ora-Howario : 1 " Hydsscodoma/ APAP 10/325 | 80
126175 § Orta-Rosaric 40 14 —~ — Hydrocodons/APAP 10/325 | 80|
126177 || Cria Rowario 30 ” 13 ! I - I Hydrocedone/APAP 10325 | B0
126178 § OrtaRosaric : dons/APAP 10/325 | 80
126191 i Orta- Heomario 0 | u Hydrecodome/ APAP 10/325 | 80
126265 | OvteRiwaric | 40 0 13 - E Hydmoodune/ APAP 10325 B0
126266 | OnsRosario 40 [ 15 i i | Hydrowodone/AlPAP 10j325 | 80
127121 51|.n. 30 § 21 30

Prescriptiononline.com's records show that none of the early refills in the table in

averment IL were authorized by the physicians who wrote the presecriptions.

Ll

In providing early refills for prescriptions for contralled substances that were not

authorized by the physicians who wrote the onginal prescriptions, Mr. Auralle and Ms.

Levitt violated NRS 639.210(4) and (15) and 639.2396 and NAC 639.945(1)(1). Each of

the 82 controlled substances prescriptions for which an unauthorized early refill was

made constilules a separale count for disciplinary purposes under NRS 6839.255(1){1),

and a separale fine or other discipline may be imposed for each such unauthorized

early refill.
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FIFTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
LIt

In providing early refills for prescriptions for controlled substances that were not
authorized by the physicians who wrote the original prescriptions,
Prescriptiononline. com viclated NRS 639.210(4) and (15) and 638,2396 and NAC
639.945(1)(i) and (2). Each of the 82 controlled substances prescriptions for which an
unauthorized early refill was made constitutes a separate count for disciplinary
purposes under NRS 639.255(1)(f), and a separate fine or other discipline may be

imposed for each such unauthorized eary refill.

SIXTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
LIl

The operation of Prescripliononline.com is entirely based upon the use of the
Intermetl.. Prescriptiononline com maintains and operates its own website thraugh which
it solicits prescriptions and otherwise communicates with its patients and potential
patients. ]Ihe.physidans who wrote the bulk of the prescriptions filled by
Prescriptiononfine.com did so through their own websites through which they solicited
and communicated with their patients and potential patients.

LIV.

In the 2001 legislative saession, the Nevada Legisiature created the Nevada

lllegal Intermet Pharmacy Act, now codified as NRS 453.3611 through 453.3648. The

lllegal Internet Pharmacy Act became effective October 1, 2001.

R




LV.

Pursuant to the authority in the lllegal Internel Pharmacy Act, the Board created
and passed regulations, presently codified at MAC 639.420 through 639.428. The new
regulations became effective on December 17, 2001. ¢

LWI.

After retaining the services of an Internet expert to identify all of the potential
Internet websites that might be advertising or selling prescription drugs, on July 25,
2002, the Board staff sent an e-mail to all identified websites informing them of the new
lllegal Internet Pharmacy Act and inviting them to become licensed and certified in
Nevada as Intemet pharmacies.

LWII

Frescriptiononline.com was one of the sites to receive the Board's e-mail

notification regarding the new lllegal Internet Pharmacy Act.
LWV,

Frescriptiononline.com has never applied to be and is not certified in Nevada to
serve the public as an Internet pharmacy, even though the Intemet is the primary
means by which Prescriptionenline. com advertises, operates, and communicates with
the public

LIX.

Since October 1, 2001, Prescriptiononline.com has filled 46,514 controlled

substances prescriptions. Since December 17, 2001, Prescriptiononline.com has filled

35,439 controlled substance prescriptions. %ﬂuly 29, 2002, Prescrptiononline.com
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hias filled 6,000 controlled substances prescriptions. Most of these prescriptions were
filled by Mr. Auralle or Ms. Levitt.
LX

In operaling a pharmacy in violation of the lllegal Intermet Pharmacy Act,
Prescriptiononline.com violated NRS 639.210(4) and (15) and 453.3638(1) and NAC
639.945(1)(1) and (k), and (2). Each of as many as 45,514 controlled substances
prescription filled or refilled in violation of the lilegal Internet Pharmacy Act constitutes a
separate count for disciplinary purposes under NRS 639.255(1)(f), and a separate fine

or other discipline may be imposed for each such prescription.

SEVE CAUSE OF ACTION
LX1.

In filling, refilling, dispensing, or otherwise assisting or aiding
Prescriptiononline.com in violating the Illegal Internet Pharmacy Act, Mr. Auralle and
Ms. Levitt violated NRS 639.210(4) and (15) and 453.3638(1) and (3) and NAC
839.945(1)(i) and (k). Each of as many as 46,514 controlled substances prescription
filled or refilled in violation of the lllegal Intermet Pharmacy Act constitutes a separate
count for disciplinary purposes under NRS 638.255(1)(f), and a separate fine or other
discipline may be imposed for each such prescnption.

EIGHTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

L&

Patient H and her daughter, Patient B, both had prescriptions filled and refilled at

Prescriptiononline.com (Rx ##103011, 103433, and 117638 for Patient H and Rx
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##111839 for Patient B). The prescriptions were all written by Dr. Opsahl. Both Patient
H and Patient B contacted Dr. Opsahl exclusively through the telephone: neither Patient
H nor Patient B was ever physically examined by Dr. Opsahl. The prescriptions were
filled or refilled from July 20, 2001 through February 25, 2002 and were primarily for
hydrocodona/APAP 10/500 #120, although one of Patient H's prescriptions (filled and
refilled twice) was for temazepam 30 mg. #30.

LXH.

During the period in which Prﬁnripti!?hunline.mm was filling prescriptions for
Patient H and Patient B, Patient H became aware that her daughter, Patient B, was
receiving hydrocodone products from numerous pharmacies and that her daughter was
addicted to hydrocodone products, taking between fifteen and twenty hydrocodone
tablets per day. Patient H called Dr. Opsahl and informed him that Patient B was
addicted to hydrocodone and asked him to cease prescribing hydrocodone to Patient B
Dr. Opsahl informed Patient H that he would continue to prescribe hydrocodone to
Patient B.

LXIV,

Patient H also contacted Prescriptiononline com and spoke with Mighael
Cosenza._Fatient H informed Mr. Cosenza that Patient B was addicted to hydrocodone
and asked Mr. Cosenza to have Prescriptiononline.com cease filling hydrocodone
prescriptions for Patient B. Mr. Cosenza informed Patient H that
Prescriptiononline.com would not cease providing hydrocodone to Patient B.

LXV.
In late December 2001 and throughout 2002, Patient H was able to talk Patient B

into drug treatment. Patient B was treated at first on an in-pabent basis, followed by an
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extensive period of detoxification through methadone treatments. Patient B's license as
a nurse was revoked as a result of her drug-seeking behavior. Patient H ceased taking
hydrocodone in the spring of 2002.

LXWI.

In providing controlled substances, namely hydrocodone, to a patient with
knowledge that the controlled substance was not being prescribed or used for a
legitimate medical purpose and was, insiead, being used to perpetuate an addiction,
Prescriptiononline.com violated NRS 639.210(4), (12) and (15}, NAC 453.430(2) and
6309.945(1)(g) and (i) and (2), and 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a) and (c).

WHEREFORE it is requested that the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy take
appropnate disciplinary action with respect to the certificates of registration of the
Respandents.

Signed this __ day of December, 2002,

Keith W. Macdonald, Executive Secretary
Nevada State Board of Pharmacy

NOTICE TO RESFONDENT
You have the right to show the Nevada State Board of Pharmacy that your

conduct. as alleged above, complies with all lawful requirements regarding your cerificate
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of registration. To do so, you must mail to the Board within 15 days of your receipt of this

Notice of Intended Action and Accusation a written statement showing your compliance.
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